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The New Haven City Hall was constructed in 1861-2 and designed by 
Henry Austin (180^-1891). To the left of City Hall and set back twenty- 
five feet further from the street is the old Courthouse (1871-3) designed 
by David R. Brown (1831-1910). 1 Together the buildings provide a united 
facade marking the first phase of the High Victorian Gothic Style in 
America. Both buildings are three and one-half stories, constructed of 
brick, with facades faced with Portland and Nova Scotia stone. City Hall 
has a three part asymmetrical facade with the center section recessed. 
Until the upper portion was removed as a safety precaution in 1968, the 
most imposing element of City Hall was the clock and bell tower which 
terminated in a steep slate roof with dormers and clocks on four sides. 
The Courthouse has two matching flanking sections and a two-bay center 
section with a shallow recession above the first floor. Over the entrance 
is a bracketed stone balcony with pierced quatrefoil stone railing. 
Alternate bands of dark and light stone, some sections considerably 
weathered, transverse the facades of both buildings and create a polychrome 
effect. Both buildings also have groupings of various size Tudor and 
Gothic arched windows; the mullibns and inner arches of the City Hall 
windows have distinctive carved wood, rope moldings. City Hall's third 
and fourth story tower windows are e.ncased in a two-story paneled wood 
tracery frame. The three arched portals on City Hall and the two on the 
Courthouse retain their original traceried wooden and glass entrance doors. 
Above the City Hall entrance is a stone arcade composed of eight arches 
supported by spiral colonnettes and a series of quatrefoils with carved 
foliate bosses. The central boss bears the date 1861. On the Courthouse 
the date A.D. 18?1 is carved on a pier between the two central second 
floor windows. The initials "DRB" (for David R. Brown) are interwoven 
and carved in stone above a small arched passageway between the City Hall 
and Courthouse. Above the archway, a three story stone ligature rises 
between the two buildings. City Hall has two masonry dormers with pointed 
roofs separated by a pierced balustrade; the Courthouse has three similar 
dormers, the center one slightly taller to echo the height of the City 
Hall tower.

The interior of City Hall has a large central stairhall preceded by a 
polychrome tiled vestibule. A grand cast iron staircase leads to the 
council chambers and administrative offices on the second floor. Light is 
provided by a ceiling skylight. A walnut railing with foliate cast-iron 
bannisters leads up the stairs and surrounds the stairwell on both the 
second and third floors. Oak wainscoting and Gothicized door frames with 
carved tympana accentuate the interior. A contemporary white marble 
plaque on the second floor at the head of the stairs lists the members of 
the City Hall building committee, the architect, and the contractors. A 
similar black marble plaque appears in the same location in the Courthouse. 
Original City Hall building accessories include the oversize regulator 
clock above the marble plaque, the large walnut dais in the Aldermanic 
chamber, and marble fireplace mantles in several offices. The staircase 
and interior room arrangement of the Courthouse is similar to the City 
Hall, but more modest in scale and ornament.
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Both buildings have undergone some alterations. In addition 
to the removal of the upper portion of the City Hall tower, an 
arched stone and brick carriageway at the northern front corner 
of the Courthouse has been demolished. 2 A large elevator has been 
placed to the left front of the grand staircase in City Hall and a 
small elevator has been placed in the rear of the Courthouse. Glass 
walls on the second floor of the Courthouse now enclose the formerly 
open stairwell and on the third floor the entire stairwell has 
been covered by a floor. Other minor alterations consist of 
remodeled and subdivided room space.

1The two buildings, their dates and architects are discussed 
in E. E. Atwater, History of New Haven (188?), pp. 462-3.

2The carriageway is visible in the line drawing, E. E. Atwater, 
History of New Haven, p. 462.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The primary importance of New Haven City Hall, or Hall of Records, 
as it was first called, is its identification as one of the first 
municipal buildings in New England and one of the first American buildings 
in the High Victorian Gothic style. 1 The building exhibits a remarkable 
affinity for English taste, in particular Fuller and Jones Canadian 
Parliament, built in 1859 which has been suggested as a possible source 
for City Hall. 2

City Hall was also designed by the distinguished architect and 
New Haven resident, Henry Austin (1804-1891). Austin, who began his career 
with the architectural firm of Ithiel Town and A. J. Davis, opened his own 
New Haven office in 1837.^ In the succeeding fifty years, he was 
responsible for a substantial number of New Haven's more forceful 
structures, including the Gothic Revival library at Yale University^and 
the Egyptian Rivival Grove Street Cemetery. The importance of Austin s 
New Haven architecture is generally recognized, as he designed eight of 
the eighteen buildings included in the 1964 Historic American Buildings 
Survey 'of New Haven.^ TWO of the buildings surveyed were the City Hall 
and the James D. Dana House (1849), already placed on the National 
Register.

The County Courthouse, now called the Annex, was completed in 1873 
and designed by David R. Brown, a former draughtsman for Austin. Brown, 
who designed a number of New Haven buildings, as well as the Connecticut 
Building at the Centennial celebration in Philadelphia, is also credited 
by one historian with the initial design for City Hall.-5

The Courthouse was designed to compliment and reflect the Victorian 
Gothic style of City Hall. Together the buildings form one of the most 
impressive Victorian Gothic facades in New England.
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The two buildings stand in a preeminent position on the east .side 
of the New Haven Green, itself a National Register Historic District. 
The City Hall and Courthouse are the physical link with the many city 
administrations that have helped shape over one hundred years of New 
Haven history. In the words of the noted architectural historian and 
Yale University professor, Vincent Scully, "they represent the increasingly 
rare, still living fabric of another past life style of the city that 
it would be infinitely poorer without,"b

1C. L. V. Meeks, "Henry Austin and the Italian Villa," Art 
Bulletin, 30 (19^8), 1^5.

2 Ibid., 145.

%enry F. Withey & E. R. Withey, Biographical^Dictionary of 
American Architects (Los Angeles: New Age Publishing Co., 1956), p. 26.

^Historic American Buildings Survey, New Haven Architecture 
(Washington, D.C.: National Park Service, 1970).

^George Dudley Seymour, New Haven (Privately printed, 19^2), p. 250.

^Quoted in Stanley Venoit, "Tower, Facade on City Hall Being Restored, 
New Haven Register, 3 April, 1975, p. 52.
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